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Flow Way Community Development District 
 

November 10, 2022  
 
 
 
 
Board of Supervisors  
Flow Way Community Development District 
 
Dear Board Members: 

The Regular Meeting of the Board of Supervisors of the Flow Way Community Development District 
(the “District”) will be held on Thursday, November 17, 2022, at 1:00 P.M. at the Esplanade Golf and 
Country Club, 8910 Torre Vista Lane, Naples, FL 34119. 

The following WebEx link and telephone number are provided to join/watch the meeting. 
https://districts.webex.com/districts/onstage/g.php?MTID=eefb4731966f5754f282ef01dbe0379d8   
Access Code: 2330 268 2655, Event password:  Jpward 
Phone:  408-418-9388 and enter the access code 2330 268 2655 to join the meeting. 
 

Agenda 

1. Call to Order & Roll Call. 
 

2. Public Comments for non-agenda items. These are limited to three (3) minutes and individuals are 
permitted to speak on items on the agenda and will be announced by the chairperson. 

 
3. Consideration of Minutes: 

I. October 27, 2022 – Regular Meeting.  [Page 5] 
 

4. Supervisor’s Requests. 
I. Chairman Zack Stamp – Discussion of Retention of District General Counsel (Litigation 

Counsel to remain the same). 
 

5. Staff Items. 
I. District Attorney – Woods, Weidenmiller, Michetti, & Rudnick.  

a. Status Report on City of Bonita Springs application to SFWMD to discharge 
floodwater into Collier County (including the Preserve). 

b. Status Report on Litigation. 
c. Update on discussions with HOA as to potential new litigation (558/HOA).  

 
 
 

https://districts.webex.com/districts/onstage/g.php?MTID=eefb4731966f5754f282ef01dbe0379d8
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II. District Engineer – Calvin, Giordano & Associates. 
a. Engineer’s Report.  [Page 25] 

1. Strategic Operational Plan. 
2. Bonita Springs Floodwater Diversion Plan. 

 
III. District Manager – JPWard & Associates, LLC. 

a. Financial Statements for period ending October 31, 2022 (unaudited).  [Page 37] 
b. Update on Discussions with HOA regarding ultimate ownership/maintenance 

responsibilities.  
 

6. Audience Comments: - Public comment period is for items NOT listed on the Agenda, comments 
are limited to three (3) minutes per person, assignment of speaking time is not permitted, however 
the Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time for the public comment period consistent with 
Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes. 
 

7. Announcement of Next Meeting – Regular Meeting on December 15, 2022. 
 

Quorum Call for December 15, 2022.  

□ Zack Stamp 

□ Ronald Miller 

□ Tom Kleck  

□ Martinn Winters 

□ Bart Bhatla 
 

8. Adjournment. 
 

Staff Review  
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The first order of business is to call the meeting to order and to conduct the roll call. 
__________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The third order of business is consideration of the October 27, 2022 Regular Meeting minutes. 
____________________________________________________________________________________ 
 
The fourth and fifth orders of business are Supervisors requests, and staff reports, the District 
Manager, District Attorney and District Engineer will present on their current items. 
___________________________________________________________________________________ 

The balance of the agenda is standard in nature, and I look forward to seeing you at the meeting, if you 
have any questions and/or comments before the meeting, please do not hesitate to contact me directly 
at (954) 658-4900. 
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Yours sincerely, 
Flow Way Community Development District 
 

 

James P. Ward 
District Manager 
 
 
 

The Fiscal Year 2023 schedule is as follows: 
 

December 15, 2022 January 19, 2023 
February 16, 2023 March 16, 2023 
April 20, 2023 May 18, 2023 
June 15, 2023 July 20, 2023 
August 17, 2023 September 21, 2023 
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MINUTES OF MEETING 1 
FLOW WAY 2 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 3 
 4 
The Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of the Flow Way Community Development District was 5 
held on Thursday, October 27, 2022, at 1:00 P.M. at the Esplanade Golf and Country Club, 8910 Torre 6 
Vista Lane, Naples, FL 34119.     7 

 8 
 9 
Present and constituting a quorum: 10 
Zack Stamp    Chairperson 11 
Ron Miller  Vice Chairperson  12 
Bart Bhatla    Assistant Secretary 13 
Tom Kleck  Assistant Secretary 14 
 15 
Absent: 16 
Martinn Winters   Assistant Secretary 17 
 18 
Also present were: 19 
James P. Ward     District Manager 20 
James Messick    District Engineer 21 
Greg Woods    District Counsel 22 
Skip Miller    Greenspoon Marder 23 
 24 
Audience: 25 
Dave Boguslawski 26 
Ed Staley 27 

 28 
 All resident’s names were not included with the minutes.  If a resident did not identify 29 

themselves or the audio file did not pick up the name, the name was not recorded in these 30 
minutes. 31 

 32 
PORTIONS OF THIS MEETING WERE TRANSCRIBED VERBATIM.  ALL VERBATIM PORTIONS WERE 33 
TRANSCRIBED IN ITALICS. 34 
  35 
FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS   Call to Order/Roll Call 36 
 37 
Chairperson Zack Stamp called the meeting to order at approximately 1:00 p.m.  Roll call was conducted, 38 
and all Members of the Board were present, with the exception of Supervisor Miller and Supervisor 39 
Winters, constituting a quorum.  Supervisor Miller arrived at approximately 1:02 p.m. 40 
 41 
SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS   Public Comments 42 
 43 
Public Comments for non-agenda items (Limited to three (3) minutes).  Individuals are permitted to 44 
speak on items on the agenda during that item and will be announced by the Chairperson. 45 
 46 
Chairperson Stamp reviewed public comment protocols.   47 
 48 
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 49 
THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS   Consideration of Minutes 50 
 51 
July 21, 2022 – Public Hearing  52 
 53 
Chairperson Stamp asked if there were any corrections or deletions; hearing none, he called for a 54 
motion.   55 
 56 

On MOTION made by Mr. Tom Kleck, seconded by Mr. Bart Bhatla, 57 
and with all in favor, the July 21, 2022 Public Hearing Minutes were 58 
approved. 59 

 60 
 61 
FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS   Consideration of Resolution 2023-1 62 
 63 
Consideration of Resolution 2023-1, a resolution of the Board of Supervisors of the Flow Way 64 
Community Development District authorizing the Issuance of its taxable revenue note, Series 2022, in 65 
the principal amount not to exceed $500,000 to provide funds for the operation and maintenance of 66 
the District; providing that such note shall be payable from operation and maintenance special 67 
assessments upon benefitted properties in the District as provided herein; awarding the note to Truist 68 
Bank by negotiated sale; authorizing the District to enter into a loan agreement with Truist Bank; 69 
authorizing the District to enter into a wire transfer agreement with Truist Bank providing for the 70 
rights, security and remedies for the owner of such note; providing for the creation of certain funds; 71 
making certain covenants and agreements in connection therewith; providing a severability clause; 72 
providing for conflict and providing an effective date 73 
 74 
Chairperson Stamp:  How did we get in this situation?  We as a Board dramatically increased the CDD 75 
assessment for FY-2023 from $525 dollars to $1,400 dollars, so why are we borrowing money?  It is a 76 
matter of cash flow.  When we assumed control from the developer, we were faced with many 77 
unbudgeted costs due mainly to their lack of maintenance.  Most significant were cleaning the pipes that 78 
connected the lakes at a cost of about $80,000 dollars and repairing the south weir at a cost of about 79 
$15,000 dollars.   80 
 81 
Ron Miller entered the meeting.   82 
 83 
Chairperson Stamp:  Had we not undertaken these repairs and many others which were relatively small 84 
by themselves, but significant in the aggregate, we would have ended the year with a positive balance, 85 
but the impact from Hurricane Ian demonstrates that the pipes and weir were the correct decision, and 86 
we possibly averted a disaster.  In addition, as a result of our litigation, Taylor Morrison is required to pay 87 
us an award of $472,000 dollars.  This is a result of an arbitration award to which Taylor Morrison 88 
agreed.  That should have been paid in the last fiscal year, but as you can imagine Taylor Morrison is 89 
delaying and stalling that payment.  We will get more information on this later from our legal counsel.  If 90 
they had paid on time, we would not need this short term borrowing.  We are literally out of cash to pay 91 
bills as we sit here today.  The money from the assessment will start coming in, in December, but the vast 92 
majority of money will not hit our bank account until January.  This is not a comfortable position for me, 93 
and I would guess for the rest of the Board.  Our options are limited: 1) not borrow, not pay our bills, 94 
putting us in a bad situation with current and future vendors, as well as the State of Florida; 2) borrow 95 
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short term and absorb the cost and fees of a short term loan, but retain the ability to pay our bills in a 96 
timely manner.  In my mind there are no good options, just a less bad one.  We do not know what other 97 
surprises we may get hit with over the next few months.  A bug of some sort seems to emerge out of 98 
every rock we have overturned thus far.  We must be prepared for unbudgeted expenses.  I believe the 99 
short term borrowing is the least bad option for us.  The amount is far larger than we anticipate needing 100 
and the duration far longer than we will need, but only one bank would even consider giving us a short 101 
term loan and those are their minimum terms.  We cannot get a line of credit because we are a 102 
government agency.  There are no prepayment penalties.  We should be able to pay this off by the 103 
second quarter of 2023, reducing the interest cost.  He asked Mr. Ward to review the loan terms. 104 
 105 
Mr. Ward:  Skip Miller with Greenspoon Marder is present on video with you today.  He is the counsel I 106 
retained as the attorney to handle the documents.  The loan amount I had requested is $500,000 dollars; 107 
the bank will be Truist Bank which is the bank the District uses for general operations funds.  There 108 
weren’t any banks who were interested in this.  The shortness of this loan and the size of it did not lend 109 
itself to other banks being able to finance this.  There are two ways for a governmental agency to finance 110 
this type of a project; one is through a tax exempt basis, and one is taxable.  This particular loan is priced 111 
at a taxable rate of 4.92%.  The loan is structured as taxable simply because the cost of the borrowing 112 
overall, including the attorney’s fees is less than it would be on a tax except basis by around $5,000 113 
dollars over the term of this note.  I anticipate that we will be able to pay this off by March 31 of next 114 
year at the latest, if not sooner.  The loan is secured by special assessments which we levied this past July 115 
for our general fund.  They are what we call limited obligations of the district and do not constitute a 116 
general obligation or indebtedness of the issue or are payable solely from the pledged funds which are 117 
defined pursuant to the note as the special assessments for our general obligations.  The money that we 118 
collect from our general fund assessments this year must be used to repay this loan within 12 months (by 119 
October 28, 2023).  I do anticipate this will be paid for by March 31.  The money will be funded directly to 120 
our operating account by wire transfer to the District tomorrow.  Some of the more salient points of the 121 
agreement is the litigation certificate we are providing that basically indicates there are no actions or 122 
proceedings pending against the District or affecting the issue, basically as it would obligate the District 123 
related to the repayment of the loan itself.  We have an obligation to repay this loan on a timely basis 124 
and none of the monies coming in from assessments can be used outside of the context of our operating 125 
budget for repayment of this loan or for the operating expenses associated with our annual budget.  126 
There are some other salient points with regard to providing an audit which we will do, but we won’t 127 
need that.  We do have an obligation to provide ten days’ notice in the event of a default.  Default in this 128 
instance would be extremely limited; it means that we didn’t collect the revenue necessary in order to 129 
pay the obligations pursuant to the loan agreement itself.   130 
 131 
Mr. Bhatla: my comments are concerned about what kind of safeguards we can put in place that this 132 
does not happen again.  I know there were extenuating circumstances, but this is a business.  It is a very 133 
distressing situation. 134 
 135 
Mr. Ward:  I think that the safeguards we already have in place with respect to what we did this year in 136 
order to size our budget to meet the obligations of this community in terms of paying for the operations 137 
on a regular annual basis, we've met that obligation.  The situation of repaying the loan is really just a 138 
big issue we will deal with on an internal basis, so I do not foresee this being something we will get into 139 
in the future unless we get into future larger litigation.  From an operational perspective we spent from 140 
basically December of last year through April I believe, preparing a budget for fiscal year 2023 and 141 
beyond, from a capital perspective that will allow us to operate in a fiscally responsible method on a 142 
going forward basis.   143 
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 144 
Mr. Bhatla:  My concern is that safeguards in place as to the contingency that cannot be used by the 145 
operating people, as an example, and projecting three months onward of anticipated expenditure.  Those 146 
kinds of safeguards.  I am only just suggesting, but I think we need to put into place safeguards, so we 147 
don’t get into this kind of situation again. 148 
 149 
Chairperson Stamp:  I think what got us into trouble last year was the unanticipated and the things we 150 
didn’t budget for because we didn’t know they existed.  You can never do that except by having a 151 
sufficient reserve which is part of the five year plan to build up, so we can’t sit here and say it will never 152 
happen again, but it could have hit us harder than it did.  I understand what you are saying, but I think 153 
the budget and us getting a monthly report at the monthly meetings are the safeguards for what can be 154 
reasonably anticipated.  But who knew about the pipes and the weir and two pumps and all these other 155 
expenses which we didn’t put in the budget the year before because we didn’t know they existed, and we 156 
burned through our reserves.  That’s why we are here.   157 
 158 
Mr. Ron Miller:  The finalized budgets that we did in addition to (indecipherable) another $100,000 159 
dollars to that reserve. 160 
 161 
Chairperson Stamp:  Correct and that will cover that shortfall from an accounting standpoint, but yes, we 162 
would start the five year plan to build a reserve.   163 
 164 
Mr. Bhatla:  I am interested in – we should be able ring the bell 3 months in advance as we are heading 165 
into the situation and maybe take steps, because it became a crisis, and I think that’s the part I want to 166 
ask us to come up with something that we try and anticipate so we don’t get into crisis mode.   167 
 168 
Chairperson Stamp:  This does not increase the assessment for next year.  We can pay this back with the 169 
current assessment rate passed in July which went into effect and which people will start paying in 170 
December and January, so even though we've thrown around the word special assessment and that kind 171 
of thing, it does not necessitate anything beyond the assessment that is already on the books.  We 172 
should not need to do that.  If we get into a situation where we have unanticipated expenses, we will just 173 
take a haircut to other things to make sure we keep it within the assessment.   174 
 175 
Mr. Dave Boguslawski:  I think looking back at it, you made the right call here.  Cleaning out the pipes, 176 
because we had a hurricane hit us, and so this is one of those situations where the best laid plans 177 
sometimes go off track and as you look forward, having a cash pot somewhere is going to be extremely 178 
important, just as on the homeowner's association’s side.  We keep passing on to residents the idea that 179 
we have a kitty that’s set aside, but if that storm hits us hard and we have a lot of cleanup to do, and we 180 
have a million dollar deductible on our policies, we may come up short too.  I think about the CDD and 181 
ask what kinds of things might be unpredictable.  I don’t know.   I'm not sure Jim and company are doing 182 
that kind of thinking.  Everybody lays out the best cash flow they can and hopefully they have a little 183 
cushion in there for those lesser emergencies, but we had a pump that broke, and you paid the tab, and 184 
then the things that Taylor Morrison should have fixed but they didn’t and cash that Taylor Morrison 185 
should have paid but they didn’t, so we can go on and on.    186 
 187 
Chairperson Stamp asked if there were any additional questions or comments; hearing none, he called 188 
for a motion.  189 
 190 
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On MOTION made by Mr. Ron Miller, seconded by Mr. Tom Kleck, and 191 
with all in favor, Resolution 2023-1 was adopted, and the Chair was 192 
authorized to sign.   193 

 194 
 195 
FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS   Consideration of Resolution 2023-2 196 
 197 
Consideration of Resolution 2023-2, a resolution of the Board of Supervisors of the Flow Way 198 
Community Development District (the “District”) amending the Fiscal Year 2022 Budget which began 199 
on October 1, 2021, and ended on September 30, 2022; providing a severability clause; providing for 200 
conflict and providing an effective date 201 
 202 
Mr. Ward:  From a general accounting standpoint and for purposes of our audit, we need to provide and 203 
ensure that we have a balanced budget, that there is enough revenue coming in to offset our expenses 204 
for the year that just ended.  Just briefly speaking about it, our overall expenditures for fiscal year 2022 205 
were $1,048,000 dollars, with $600,000 dollars of special assessments that came in.  This basically 206 
means we used up all of our cash reserves and then a little bit more in terms of doing that.  In this budget 207 
amendment I have included the arbitration agreement award of $472,420 dollars which I hope will be 208 
significant enough for the auditors to ensure that we are good with this.  That’s all this budget 209 
amendment is doing.  You are now showing that the arbitration award is money that is owed to this 210 
District.  It will be paid hopefully in this coming year, but that was sufficient funds in order to balance the 211 
budget for this year and saves us from going into what we call “state of financial emergency for 212 
governmental agencies.”   213 
 214 
Mr. Bhatla:  What is the anticipated date of the award coming in?  Is there a specific timetable? 215 
 216 
Mr. Woods:  No.  Where the court ruled there are all kinds of procedural issues that would take a number 217 
of motions and hearings to sort out.  I would hope that happens in the next couple months and then it 218 
would be 30 days from whenever we get a final judgment.  If you are optimistic, it would be three 219 
months, but it could be six or seven.   220 
 221 
Mr. Tom Kleck:  Greg, do they pay interest on that? 222 
 223 
Mr. Woods:  It's statutory rate.  I don’t know what current statutory rate is, but I'm guessing it's around 4 224 
or something.  It's a standard published statutory rate. 225 
 226 
Mr. Kleck:  Shouldn’t that be an incentive for wanting to pay it off sooner?  227 
 228 
Mr. Woods:  The longer they can hold onto the money, the loner they will.   229 
 230 
Chairperson Stamp asked if there were any additional questions; hearing none, he called for a motion.   231 
 232 

On MOTION made by Mr. Tom Kleck, seconded by Mr. Ron Miller, and 233 
with all in favor, Resolution 2023-2 was adopted, and the Chair was 234 
authorized to sign.   235 

 236 
 237 
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SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS   Consideration of Resolution 2023-3 238 
 239 
Consideration of Resolution 2023-3, a resolution of the Board of Supervisors of the Flow Way 240 
Community Development District (the “District”) amending the Fiscal Year 2023 Budget which began 241 
on October 1, 2022, and ends on September 30, 2023; providing a severability clause; providing for 242 
conflict and providing an effective date 243 
 244 
Mr. Ward:  One of the conditions of the loan agreement is that we ensure that we pay the loan persons 245 
back in fiscal year 2023 and absorb the legal fees that we have to pay in order to do the Truist loan.  This 246 
budget amendment basically does this.  It shows the Truist loan proceeds coming into the district, 247 
budgets the fees we will pay at closing tomorrow of $19,000 dollars, which are the legal fees associated 248 
with this and it shows the repayment of the principal and interest that will be due on the loan, 249 
anticipating a March 31, 2023 repayment date and reduces that contingency line item of $100,000 250 
dollars by $31,200 to absorb the interest due on the loan and the legal fees associated with it.  That 251 
contingency line item will drop to $68,800 dollars at this point in time.  That’s all this does.  I am sure I 252 
will have another budget amendment in November or December, to true-up the cash from 2022 that we 253 
will probably be short and need to take out of the 2023 budget, but that I will calculate once I get closer 254 
to finishing some of the audit papers that need to be done.   255 
 256 
Mr. Bhatla:  When are we expecting receipt of the taxes?  When do they start to trickle in? 257 
 258 
Mr. Ward:  They will start to come in generally the latter part of November.  A lot of them will come in by 259 
the end of December.  That was in the last couple of years.  I really don’t know what they will be this 260 
year, but generally, by February, we have over 95% of our total assessments in place. 261 
 262 
Chairperson Stamp:  There is a discount for paying early. 263 
 264 
Mr. Ward:  And most people pay early to take advantage of the discount.  265 
 266 
Mr. Miller: Comment. I think we should add that to our list of construction delays and so forth as well.  267 
It's the reason we borrowed money in the first place.   268 
 269 
Mr. Woods:  I see what you're thinking Ron.  I think under Florida law it's probably just a little too 270 
attenuated to be a damage.  Let me mull that over.   271 
 272 
Chairperson Stamp:  Certainly, cleaning the pipes and all the other things that could be there, but this is 273 
individual items.  He asked if there were any questions; hearing none, he called for a motion.  274 
 275 

On MOTION made by Mr. Tom Kleck, seconded by Mr. Bart Bhatla, 276 
and with all in favor, Resolution 2023-3 was adopted, and the Chair 277 
was authorized to sign.   278 

 279 
 280 
SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS   Supervisor’s Requests 281 
 282 
I. Chairman Zack Stamp – Discussion of Retention of District General Counsel (Litigation Counsel to 283 

remain the same) 284 
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 285 
Chairperson Stamp:  We are going to have to start looking for a new CDD counsel.  It was always the 286 
intent that the Woods law firm would not be our CDD counsel in the long term.  They would do that 287 
through the end of litigation.  We didn’t want to be paying two different law firms show up at all the 288 
meetings and we didn’t want to have two law firms who would have to consult about every decision 289 
we made.  We wanted to keep it consolidated to one law firm.  CDD counsel is not a specialty of 290 
theirs, but it was efficient for us, and they charged a lower rate for the purely CDD work that they did 291 
for us as opposed to litigation.  I approached Greg three or four months ago and said I didn’t want 292 
him to hear we were starting to look, and he was more than happy to assist us in finding a 293 
replacement.  Litigation is not over.  They continue on the appeal and/or the rehearing on the 294 
matters regarding the arbitration award, dealing with the Corps of Engineers, as well as what we do 295 
in joining the HOA in their 558 suit.  Those are still outstanding matters, but I would think we will 296 
have a substantial reduction in legal fees this year.  There won’t be the depositions and there won’t 297 
be the discovery that we've had in the past.   298 
 299 
Mr. Ward:  When you are picking a general counsel, specifically for the purposes of Community 300 
Development Districts there are not a lot of lawyers individually and/or firms in the State that handle 301 
Community Development Districts.  In Naples there are only two that I know of, one is the Urbancic 302 
firm, Greg Urbancic, and the other firm is Woodward, Pires and Lombardo.  Greg’s firm is much 303 
larger in terms of its presence for CDDs.  State-wide there are two other firms that I do a lot of other 304 
work with and represent lots of Community Development Districts in the State of Florida, one of 305 
which I particularly like, and then there are a few other smaller firms, one in Ft. Lauderdale and one 306 
in Bradenton, that handle CDDs directly.  It's up to you.  They are your counsel, so it's your decision.  307 
Obviously, I am more than happy to work with anyone that you like.  I can give you other names if 308 
you want to know who they may be, but it is a very small pool of people who do this for a living.  And 309 
you do need a good general counsel for CDD work.  It is a pretty specialized field, and any general 310 
lawyer is not going to get this right.   311 
 312 
Chairperson Stamp:  I know the process of hiring an engineer is extensive.  What is the process of 313 
hiring a new lawyer. 314 
 315 
Mr. Ward:  The process of hiring an engineer is according to the Engineer’s Full Employment Act.  316 
That’s codified in State Law.  The attorneys, they have excepted themselves from that process, so you 317 
can just pick whoever you want to hire.  You don’t have to go through that process.  You can 318 
interview them, get recommendations from either Greg or myself, or names of people, and then you 319 
can pick one.  You don’t have to interview them in public.   320 
 321 
Chairperson Stamp:  But if two of us sat down with a law firm, isn’t that a meeting?   322 
 323 
Mr. Ward:  No.  You cannot do that.   324 
 325 

AUDIO CUTS OUT HERE FOR APPROXIMATELY EIGHT MINUTES 326 
 327 
Chairperson Stamp:  Okay, we are back on the record.  Tom had asked a question, Jim was 328 
answering. 329 
 330 
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Mr. Ward:  In answer to your question, we both said we would resign, Greg did, you accepted his and 331 
mine is what it is.  I don’t whether he still wants to do this job.  I have not talked to anybody with 332 
respect to this issue.   That is up to you if you would like me to.  I don’t know if he will, or he won’t.   333 
 334 
Mr. Tom Kleck:  The reason I mentioned it, I work with Greg and a couple other CDD organizations, 335 
and from my technical standpoint he should absolutely understand what's going on since he was 336 
involved from the get-go, and unless there is some reason why we shouldn’t go back to him, I would 337 
at least check and see if he is interested.   338 
 339 
Mr. Miller:  Going back to the very first Board meeting, the first motion made was to select 340 
(indecipherable), the second motion I made was to fire Tim Hall, the third motion I would have made 341 
was to fire (indecipherable).  (Indecipherable).   342 
 343 
Chairperson Stamp:  I don’t know Greg, I never worked with him.  In the meetings I attended as a 344 
resident, he resigned.  I think he was helpful on his depositions.  We didn’t sue him.  I think we had no 345 
basis upon which to sue him successfully, but if there is an animosity here, and I know there is, 346 
whether it's deserved or not, we probably don’t want to go that way.   347 
 348 
Mr. Woods:  My professional dealings with Greg Urbancic have been very good.  He is a straight 349 
shooter.   You have to remember his boss was the Taylor Morrison appointed board members, so he 350 
followed their instructions at the time.  I know maybe should he have challenged something or 351 
spoken up a couple of times potentially, but again, he was following the directions of those who were 352 
in charge.  In my personal opinion I think Greg is lovely.  He is a smart lawyer who knows CDDs.  353 
Nobody else in Lee or Collier Counties know CDDs like Greg. 354 
 355 
Chairperson Stamp:  That has been my experience as well.  I worked with him.  He was very 356 
cooperative, very honest in my eyes.  I never had any issues with Greg, and I agree with Mr. Woods, 357 
he was working for Taylor Morrison which in effect would have guided his opinions and directions.  I 358 
think we need to start looking at a process to start looking at other people.  I wouldn’t want to bring 359 
him in on a 3 to 2 vote.  But having been a lawyer, sometimes your clients want you to do things, and 360 
nothing he did was unethical.  It might not have been helpful to us in the long run, but nothing was 361 
unethical or improper that I have seen.   362 
 363 
Mr. Woods:  I would say with Jim’s guidance on these other four potentials, he would be closer and 364 
could attend if even if Zoom is not available and you can do a lot on Zoom, but there are still times 365 
they really need to be down here for you to meet physically.  So, Bradenton or Ft. Lauderdale would 366 
be a better call than Tallahassee based attorneys.  You might want to factor that into your decision.   367 
 368 

AUDIO CUTS OUT HERE FOR APPROXIMATELY 1 MINUTE 369 
 370 
Mr. Ward:  --speaking, there is not a lot of crossover, so I would suggest we try to find a lawyer who 371 
is acceptable to all, and I agree with Zach, a three to two vote is not something anybody is going to 372 
want to come in here with.  We probably need to stick with somebody who is in the southwest area 373 
or at least who can attend your Board meetings, but you need to stay local so they can attend your 374 
meetings as opposed to coming here on Zoom all the time.   375 
 376 
Mr. Miller:  In the meantime, (indecipherable) serious technical issues.   377 
 378 
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Mr. Woods:  I will be happy to attend as long as you will have me.   379 
 380 
Chairperson Stamp:  There is no project pending that I am aware of. 381 
 382 
Mr. Bhatla:  What’s the deadline? 383 
 384 
Mr. Woods:  I am here as long as you need, but I would love to be replaced at some point.     385 
 386 
Chairperson Stamp:  There will come an end.  Anyway, this is on the table.  Jim can look around and 387 
start the process and we will revisit it.   388 

 389 
II. Supervisor Bart Bhatla - Discussion of Bonita Springs Stormwater Plan 390 

 391 
Mr. Bhatla:  I wanted to talk about the stormwater disposal by Bonita Springs, and I know that we 392 
have come to a dead end.  I assume that the governmental agencies and the regulatory agencies 393 
under the emergency cover they are going to approve the alternative.  The alternative is to dispose 394 
the floodwater through our preserve.  That is going to happen.  So, we are going to be the impacted 395 
party essentially, and if there are any damages, we will have to prove those damages to be able to 396 
litigate the recovery.  I was thinking we need to look into another alternative and I would like to 397 
propose that we should look into the alternative of being a part of the solution as opposed to 398 
projecting.  I propose we have a property which is strategically geographically located, and it can be 399 
used for solving a problem for all the stakeholders and that includes the government and the City 400 
and everybody, at least over the short term, because there are no easy short term answers, but to 401 
explore and propose that we can be the treatment facility which would be a part of the solution; 402 
however, we would be compensated for that.  All that of course has some works for the agencies, 403 
and I think the cover is the emergency.  The disposal only occurs when there is an emergency state, 404 
and they can overrule everything.  In our case, we can be the treatment facility in waiting; however, 405 
we have to be compensated and we can come up with a plan here to come up with the 406 
compensation, either ourselves or an independent consultant agreed to by the City.  I would like to 407 
propose to pass a resolution to explore this alternative.  I'm encouraged because I was looking at the 408 
2017 stormwater disposal plan by the City.  It includes a recommendation that the City should 409 
consider acquiring floodplains from other areas to incorporate into the overall scheme.  We could be 410 
a part of that, and I think in the long range it could be that the City could buy us out.  It's possible.  At 411 
this time, it seems there are a lot of regulatory orders, but I think, as you look at the problem, it is 412 
going to be beneficial to all the stakeholders, including us and it may resolve our problem.  I would 413 
like to put a positive spin on this and have us explore this alternative and see where it goes.   414 
 415 
Mr. Miller:  The easiest thing to say would be no but saying no probably wouldn’t carry the day.  I 416 
think Greg has attended some of these meetings.  I think a significant piece of the puzzle would be 417 
where Collier County stands, because Collier County, you would think, would be on our side in saying 418 
no.  that may not carry the day either.  Big picture wise it seems like South Florida Water 419 
Management District, the Big Cypress Basin Organization, they seem to have enormous power, and if 420 
they want to do something, for either the CDD or for Collier County, to be a speed bump, it may not 421 
carry the day.  That’s all speculative.  They have so much power.  It seems to me that if treatment 422 
facilities, or stormwater sewers, or whatever, can be done by Bonita Springs or by Lee County, that’s 423 
where the money should be spent and that’s what should be done.  Speaking from a place of 424 
ignorance, if that simply is a physical impossibility and cannot be done, and they have to put the 425 
water someplace else and we are convenient, I guess I could see where South Florida Water 426 
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Management would say we would like to help you guys, but we can’t.  There’s no place to put it, so 427 
we must (indecipherable).  (Indecipherable) Bonita Springs should spend their money to do their job.  428 
Should there be any cooperation, but that would be totally against doing anything.  Those treatment 429 
facilities were built, funded, and dedicated to them, and we are not going to go changing Bonita 430 
Springs or Lee County after the fact to get these things.   431 
 432 
Mr. Bhatla:  Is there a bottom line to your comments?  I just don’t understand the punchline. 433 
 434 
Mr. Miller:  Well, the final thing that comes to mind is that I don’t see any reason why we should 435 
cooperate.  That reason might be, if there truly is no solution at the Lee County or Bonita Springs, it's 436 
a physical or geological impossibility that they cannot take care of it, that would seem to say that 437 
South Florida Water Management or Big Cypress Basin would have to come to us for that solution.  438 
But if there is a solution available up there, they should assess their residents and they should take 439 
care of it.  If that’s not possible and they have to come to Collier County, then if we were to 440 
cooperate with that, I think it would be absolutely necessary for whatever facilities or necessary 441 
treatment plans, storage basins, detention ponds, all of that would have to be completed before we 442 
can step in.  We do not want to get involved and spend even one dollar of the CDDs money and then 443 
go chasing Bonita Springs for reimbursement.  That will not get us anywhere. 444 
 445 
Mr. Bhatla:  I agree with that.  I think basically being helpful and cooperative; however, asking for 446 
compensation up front, as opposed to opposing and going to litigation -- I think we should consider 447 
cooperating and exploring those alternatives.  And South Florida Water Management is all powerful.  448 
They have the charter to take care of all the flood controls in this part of the country, so you are 449 
talking to the –  450 
 451 

AUDIO WENT OUT HERE FOR APPROXIMATELY ONE MINUTE 452 
 453 
Ron Miller:  If they were willing to provide us this compensation that you are suggesting, they can 454 
spend that compensation up in Lee County.  They don’t need us.  The only way they would need us is 455 
if there is some type of true physical inability for that part of the country to absorb this.  For us to 456 
agree to any compensation and then have 100% overrun on expenses and be chasing them is not 457 
something I would be interested.   458 
 459 
Mr. Woods: We had attended the Big Cypress Basin meeting where they presented the plans that 460 
have been agreed to by the City of Bonita Springs and the South Florida Water Management District 461 
engineer, so they were noting it to that Board, and that Board is an Advisory Board.  They don’t 462 
make the final decision.  South Florida Water Management District makes the final decision.  We got 463 
there; Collier County was there.  Their representative spoke, Zach spoke, Dave spoke, I spoke, and I 464 
think the Basin Board was very sympathetic to our position that the City of Bonita Springs shouldn’t 465 
be dumping their problems onto us and they were trying to get approval to develop a plan and what 466 
we tried to point out was this plan didn’t address what's going to happen if they come, who’s going 467 
to clean it up, what's the quality of the water, etc., etc., all of that was not addressed.  So, that Board 468 
seemed to be very much on board with that and basically told South Florida Water Management 469 
District engineer to get with the City of Bonita Springs to get with Collier County and get discussions 470 
going on a plan.  I think at the moment all of that is in limbo and maybe our discussions here are a 471 
little premature.  But it is something we need to keep an eye on, because obviously we want a plan 472 
that addresses who’s paying for this plan, when can they turn pumps on, what's going to be the 473 
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water flow, etc.  These are all things that are critical to the CDD.  That’s my opinion on where I think 474 
we are at.   475 
 476 
Mr. James Messick:  Trinity Scott with Collier County brought up the fact that she could possibly look 477 
into providing a canal along Logan Blvd.  It was really speculative in nature, but she would look into 478 
having a canal along Logan which would accept the runoff from the pumps rather than going 479 
through our preserves.  I had since reached out to her to try to make contact this week and have yet 480 
to hear back from her.  But that was something I thought was – we don’t want to just be in 481 
opposition, we want to have some sort of solution, and I think that’s probably the best solution I've 482 
hear yet from any of the parties that were at the Big Cypress Board Meeting.  Everything else Greg 483 
mentioned, all the concerned parties that were at the Big Cypress Board Meeting made the same 484 
points of the environmental effects, and nothing’s been considered, but during an emergency 485 
condition, that’s not required to be considered, so that’s really our concern.  And they acknowledged 486 
that.   487 
 488 
Mr. Boguslawski:  Emergency conditions are different than normal pumping.  If they have an 489 
emergency declared in Lee County all bets are off.  We are in the midst of the problem, whether we 490 
like it or not.  In my view, you can say it's premature, or reactive or partially reactive, but the first 491 
thing to do when you have a problem, and I think we do, is you define the problem.  We could put 492 
together a swat team to find the problem to think about some of the options available to us and 493 
have a paper for the Board Meeting to discuss.  Our problem is very simple.  Bonita Springs has made 494 
progress inside South Florida Water Management District with one person, convincing him there was 495 
no flooding issue, he didn’t even look at containments, but the point is they are making progress on 496 
the (indecipherable) pumping and in the meantime, a hurricane happens, state of emergency 497 
declared, you could get dumped on in the preserves and you could lose all of your native species and 498 
all of a sudden cost of maintenance goes through the roof.  You're back at the beginning of 499 
remediation.  So, there is a problem out there.  I think from the homeowner's perspective, they don’t 500 
know what they don’t know, but the fact of the matter is, whether there is action taken or not 501 
externally, internally it would seem to me that we have some expertise built up and start learning 502 
more, poking a little bit more at various agencies to see what's up.  It's very clear in these meetings 503 
that all of the environmental community that was involved in setting up the preserve wanted nothing 504 
to do with Bonita Springs.  I think part of the goals become some of the things you're talking about.  505 
We don’t pay for anything, we don’t pay for the studies, that’s their job, so I would think, especially 506 
since you guys can’t talk outside of Board meetings, it seems to me you want somebody to bring 507 
back a paper so you can be educated as well.  Two conversations I've had with Lisa Keeler (ph) at Big 508 
Cypress Basin Board, she basically said repeatedly, Trinity Scott is your biggest advocate in Collier 509 
County but ultimately, it's going to play through Bonita Springs.  And Big Basin Board wants nothing 510 
to do with this.  They want somebody else to take the lead.  My advice is if Bart and a couple people, 511 
possibly a few volunteers from the HOA, if we wanted to put a small team together, and I would 512 
prefer to be involved in the kickoff meeting, and then step aside and watch.   513 
 514 
Chairperson Stamp:  I'm never going to say don’t talk to anybody, but my concern is Bonita Springs 515 
has the problem.  Why are they not reaching out trying to solve it?  Why are they sitting there saying 516 
we’ll dump this when we get ready to dump it?  I question how amenable they are going to be.  517 
Otherwise, you’d think they would be out looking for what does it take to get you on board, what do 518 
we need to do to take care of your concerns.  They are not doing that.  That’s a concern to me.  I've 519 
had some discussions with people in this community who are knowledgeable about insurance to look 520 
and see if there is some kind of performance bond that maybe Bonita Springs could sign a contract of 521 
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remediation and buy a performance bond to do it, and don’t have a definitive answer yet.  That’s a 522 
possible solution out there that takes care of a lot of our problems.  It's not as expensive as the ideal 523 
one of sending the water into the Imperial River which I understand already has too much water in it.  524 
And the environmental groups don’t want that canal coming down because they don’t think the river 525 
down here can handle it.  But they’ve got some other wetlands and options outside of our preserves.  526 
So, there is a potential for a solution.  I think the working group task force with Bart participating is 527 
probably a good way to start thinking about this.  I just question why the people with the problem 528 
are just sitting there.  Maybe they just think they will pull the switch when the time comes, and they 529 
don’t care.  And when you go to them and say let’s solve this, they are going to say well, bring your 530 
checkbook, because you’ve now said there’s a problem and you want to be a part of it, write a check.  531 
That’s my concern from a tactical and political standpoint.  The fact they didn’t turn them on during 532 
Ian maybe good news for us.  If they didn’t turn it on during Ian, when are they going to turn it on?  533 
But there are a lot of unknowns here.   534 
 535 
Mr. Woods:  Bart, if you are part of that committee, you’ve got to work with conservancy people 536 
because they’ve had some real expertise.  I would communicate with them because they are fully on 537 
board, and they can give you a lot of background. 538 
 539 
Mr. Bhatla:  I have talked to them.  I wanted them to decide we need to get involved in a 540 
nonlitigation place, define the problem and options, and start discussions, because until we do that, 541 
we cannot solve the problem without understanding the problem.   542 
 543 
Discussion continued regarding defining the problem, developing solutions, and the possibility of 544 
Bonita Springs doing a performance bond.   545 
 546 
Mr. Miller:  Commercial insurance policies exclude flood protection.  It's not available, so this would 547 
have to be an exception and I doubt we would ever get one.  In the insurance industry this is known 548 
as a moral hazard.  If insurance policies covered flood, people would build along rivers.  So, for 100 549 
years there has been no flood protection insurance policies.  If Bonita Springs gets coverage for their 550 
flood problems, they will start improving developments increasing the possibility for flood.  It's a 551 
moral hazard, something that builds upon itself.  I don’t see any good solution for them to dump 552 
their water on us.  And the only time they would want to dump their water on us, would be a time 553 
when we are having the exact same problem.   554 
 555 
Mr. Kleck:  Greg, who is the enforcement arm for checking up on, or going after people who do stuff 556 
in counties, like Lee County, if they are doing something wrong like dumping water or sewage into 557 
our county, who is the enforcement on looking into that and protecting us from that kind of 558 
situation? 559 
 560 
Mr. Woods:  If you are talking water and sewage, South Florida Water Management District.  They 561 
control it regardless of county lines.  That’s their jurisdiction.   562 
 563 
Mr. Kleck:  Are they saying anything to Lee County? 564 
 565 
Mr. Woods:  The issue hasn’t gotten up to them, so we don’t know where they stand on it.  566 
Obviously, Bonita has had this emergency capability of pumping for a while.   567 
 568 
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Mr. Kleck:  Then Lee County may not do anything if they can do it during an emergency.  Why spend 569 
the money if they can get away with it? 570 
 571 
Mr. Bhatla:  The city of Bonita Springs is required to get an ERP Permit and that permit is issued by 572 
South Florida Water Management District.  They are basically in touch.  In 2017 a 400 page study 573 
was made presenting alternatives of stormwater management.  It includes the flood control, so there 574 
is a great body of information about this.  They City has not come to grips with the problem, but the 575 
regulatory agency has the responsibility in case what happens under emergency conditions they do 576 
these things.  I think we need to get into the problem and discuss with them to formalize that answer 577 
and compensation, as opposed to going to court and asking for damages.  But that is an impossible 578 
situation because you have to prove the damages.  If damages occur to our preserves, we have to 579 
prove there was damage and that is difficult.  So, before that process, I think we can start the 580 
process of discussion.  We are not making any commitments at this point. 581 
 582 
Mr. Boguslawski:  My model is not to start talking to agencies.  My model is to put together a team, 583 
have the team define the problems and the possible solutions for us and have that team come back 584 
before this body and the HOA Board and publicly discuss.   585 
 586 
Chairperson Stamp:  If somebody wants to volunteer to meet with Mr. Boguslawski’s working group 587 
and report back to us, I think that would be a great thing.  But I cannot appoint anyone to do that, so 588 
we are not going to have a resolution to do that.   589 
 590 
Discussion ensued regarding proper protocols for reaching out to South Florida Water Management 591 
District and other such agencies. 592 

 593 
 594 
EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS   Staff Items 595 
 596 
I. District Attorney – Woods, Weidenmiller, Michetti, & Rudnick 597 

 598 
a) Status Report on City of Bonita Springs application to SFWMD to discharge floodwater into 599 

Collier County (including the Preserve) 600 
b) Status Report on Litigation 601 
c) Update on discussions with HOA as to potential new litigation 602 

 603 
Mr. Woods:  We had mediation, and we had arbitration.  After the arbitration, but before the 20 604 
days could run for the arbitration award, the former Taylor Morrison Board Members had their 605 
motion for summary judgment and the judge granted their motion for summary judgment.  Then 606 
Taylor Morrison did not file for new trial or trial de novo in 20 days.  We did not file for new trial or 607 
trial de novo in 20 days.  So, the arbitration award became binding. The court had previously noted 608 
entry of the judgment (indecipherable).  The trial court has no discretion to deny such a request.  609 
(Indecipherable). They say as there is no motion for new trial (indecipherable) the trial court must 610 
enforce the decision of the arbitrator and has no discretion to do otherwise.  That’s the law as we 611 
understand it.  If we were representing the individual former board members, we would have filed 612 
a motion for new trial for them within the 20 days, kicked them out and then had the court issue a 613 
written order granting some re-judgment, etc.  They didn’t do that.  We believe they needed to do 614 
that, and they dropped the ball.  We had the hearing on our motion to confirm the arbitration 615 
(indecipherable).  (Indecipherable).  Mr. Woods discussed the actions taken by Taylor Morrison, by 616 
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Taylor Morrison’s attorneys, by the courts, the delays caused by the hurricane, the actions taken 617 
by the judge on Taylor Morrison’s behalf.  We are going to file a motion for a rehearing on it, and 618 
hopefully she [the judge] sees what happened and she undoes what she’s done.  Hopefully that 619 
happens and we get this resolved very quickly.  If she doesn’t undo it, then a whole other series of 620 
things will happen.  In the motion for summary judgment, she is supposed state her findings on the 621 
record and why she is granting a summary judgment; she didn’t do that.  Basically, she just told 622 
the other side, send me an order, and make sure it will be upheld on appeal.  The motion for 623 
summary judgment itself was just on the two counts we had against the directors and the motion 624 
we just denied our claims against the directors, because they didn’t make a claim for attorney’s 625 
fees relative to those two counts.  Taylor Morrison pled they had a counterclaim.  They brought a 626 
counterclaim for the attorney’s fees.  The counterclaim wasn’t in our motion for summary 627 
judgment.  The counterclaim was never addressed, so she essentially (indecipherable) and the 628 
counterclaim should have been resolved by the arbitration because they didn’t file a trail de novo 629 
as to the counter (indecipherable).  That’s something that should be mapped out, but somehow in 630 
her order, the order she signed, she’s giving them fees under that statute.  That’s more of the 631 
procedural mess of where we are right now.  The award still stands, interestingly enough.  All of 632 
this (indecipherable) attorney’s fees.  And then the final judgment she signs, Taylor Morrison’s 633 
judgment – so they say as between the CDD and Taylor Morrison Esplanade we find that neither 634 
part is entitled to attorney’s fees, and she signed that, but there is a separate – she really can’t 635 
award attorney’s fees.  (indecipherable) parties file motions for entitlement fees; that’s the next 636 
logical step.  She’s signing an order to bypass that step, so we prevailed against Taylor Morrison 637 
Esplanade, both on the $472,000 dollars and they filed counterclaims asserting there were written 638 
contracts with us and that they were entitled to fees under those contracts, so we prevailed on 639 
their counterclaims and should be entitled to fees in that.  So, we are going to have to file a motion 640 
for entitlement to our attorney’s fees.  It's just a procedural mess.  He continued to discuss the 641 
judge’s actions and the actions he would be taking to counteract said actions.  At the end of the 642 
day there should hopefully be a wash on the attorney’s fees.  A couple things I need to raise in the 643 
interim – we’re going to file a motion to rehear, and I don’t need the Board to approve that.  If she 644 
doesn’t undo this in time, we may not get the hearing in time for some of this and we may have to 645 
file a notice of appeal.  I do need your permission to file a notice of appeal.  He discussed the 646 
repercussions of if this were to stand, and Taylor Morrison claimed attorney’s fees, then there 647 
would be a fight regarding the amount of fees, especially given that Taylor Morrison had two law 648 
firms working on behalf of Taylor Morrison.  He explained if the judge did not rescind her 649 
judgment, an attorney’s fee expert would have to be brought in and a hearing regarding 650 
attorney’s fees would have to take place.   651 
 652 
Chairperson Stamp indicated he had the authority to approve the notice of appeal when the time 653 
came.            654 
 655 
Mr. Woods:  They are trying to say because the court granted the summary judgment before the 656 
20 days, despite the fact that they didn’t get an order saying to stop the case for final judgment, 657 
they are trying to say that (indecipherable).  There is no case law supporting what they are 658 
claiming, but that’s what they got the judge to sign.  Hopefully we can get her to figure out that’s 659 
not the case.   660 
 661 
Mr. Miller:  On turnover Taylor Morrison convinced the Corps to turn the CDD permit over to the 662 
HOA, so the HOA now owns the preserve permit, and we were trying to get information on what 663 
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they have on that, and we didn’t get anything, and we were going after that a second time.  664 
Anything forthcoming on that?  665 
 666 
Mr. Woods:  We went back, and they basically said “we have nothing”.  Can we go to the attorney 667 
general and ask the attorney to investigate whether they have nothing or not?  I would not 668 
recommend doing that at this time. We want to be friendly with the Corps and would not want to 669 
challenge what they produce and not produce at this time.  It's something we could come back to.   670 
 671 
Mr. Miller:  The summary judgment to me, seemed to say that it made no decision with respect to 672 
any claim that the CDD may have against Taylor Morrison, the funding of the preserves.  It seemed 673 
to me they were not answering that question.   674 
 675 
Mr. Woods:  In the summary judgment there isn’t.   676 
 677 
Mr. Miller:  So, we still have the privilege of going after that funding? 678 
 679 
Mr. Woods:  I will say there are some findings in the final judgment that we don’t like that kind of 680 
touch upon positions.  They are not determinate, but it's something that Taylor Morrison would 681 
wave in front of the court.  I would like to see the final judgment they proposed undone just 682 
because it's not necessary for decisions.   683 
 684 
Mr. Miller:  But that door is still open? 685 
 686 
Mr. Woods:  Yes.  687 
 688 
Chairperson Stamp:  Would you talk about the HOA, the 558?  689 
 690 
Mr. Woods:  I think there is a draft of a complaint in a certain stage.  I don’t think it's ready to go.  I 691 
think at some point in the very near future it will probably run by us to look at it.  We will probably 692 
bring out claims in that same suit in terms of damages and equipment overlap, lake 693 
responsibilities, etc.  I will keep you posted on that.   694 
 695 
Chairperson Stamp:  I was going to ask Ron’s question, because clearing the Corps has documents.  696 
In the one letter they say in response to your letter on such and such a date, and now they don’t 697 
claim to have that letter, and they never turned it over to you, the filing they made to transfer the 698 
permit to the HOA.  We don’t know what they represented.  We don’t know anything about it, and 699 
the Corps doesn’t seem to have it either.  I want to switch to the preserves, and I don’t expect you 700 
to have an answer, but the question this Board is going to have to face at some point, unless these 701 
permits get reversed, is what is our obligation regarding the preserves going forward?  The Corps 702 
approved the transfer to us, and they also approved the transfer to the HOA, isn’t that some kind 703 
of implicit admission or statement by them that all the preconditions were met?  The monitoring, 704 
the maintenance, the mitigation, was all done?  Otherwise, they would be violating their own 705 
permits.   706 
 707 
Mr. Woods:  That is certainly a very valid position.  Obviously, we don’t know where they would fall 708 
on that.  I would say I think there is a track we would take with the HOA (indecipherable).   709 
 710 
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Chairperson Stamp:  Right, and again, because we cannot talk outside of the meeting, I want the 711 
members to know we are thinking about this stuff.  The other one is the timeline.  Assuming we do 712 
keep these preserves and assuming we have to do mitigation, monitoring, maintenance, all of 713 
these were preconditions to turnover.  Turnover has happened.  So, what is our timeline?  Do we 714 
have 2 years, 5 years, 10 years, to effectuate that?  We are not turning them over to anybody, so 715 
can we spend $50,000 a year or $25,000 dollars a year to have a ten year plan to complete this?  716 
The triggering event has happened, so there is no trigger out there I can see. 717 
 718 
Mr. Woods:  I think at some point you want to meet the success criteria.  Maintenance will be less 719 
expensive once success criteria has been met.   720 
 721 
Discussion ensued regarding whether there was any timeline or goal date left to meet success 722 
criteria.   723 
 724 
Mr. Miller:  I think the permit indicates the success criteria have to be met for three years in 725 
succession, and if in any of those three years there was a failure to meet success criteria, the three 726 
year period starts over.  I think there was a failure along the way at this point, so where are we on 727 
this three year success criteria. 728 
 729 
Chairperson Stamp:  Who made the determination that we failed?  I think we may have for 730 
purposes of discussion, but nobody has found that. 731 
 732 
Mr. Miller:  We did have a commencement with Tim Hall (indecipherable).  The way I read the 733 
documents was the success criteria has to be met, in order to get approval by the Corps and 734 
signoff, there was a success criteria formula, and it has to be met for three consecutive years.  And 735 
then you get your approval.  If at any time you fail, you start over from your first year.  I think we 736 
did have a commencement of the (indecipherable).   737 
 738 
Mr. Ward:  We started the remediation.  We did it for two years.  We stopped it in year three, so 739 
we never got to the “met success criteria” to start the three year program, so we basically we have 740 
to continue on with the program before we meet the success criteria.  We never met the original 741 
success criteria to start the three year period.  We only started the remediation process.  In a small 742 
part of the preserves, there were some areas that met the criteria, but from an overall perspective 743 
of the entire permit, we never met 100% of the remediation work necessary to start the three 744 
years.   745 
 746 
Mr. Bhatla:  I was under the impression that this coming March was the end of the fifth year that 747 
they have to rule that you have met, or you haven’t met – I think we have to go back. 748 
 749 
Mr. Ward:  As I remember it from what Tim Hall said, the plan we were on was to get to the point 750 
of meeting success criteria five years after we started.  We did two years.  We stopped in year 751 
three which was fiscal year 2022.  We have two more years to go before we could ask the Corps for 752 
the three year window that we would then be able to stop all remediation three years after that.  753 
We never got there.    754 
 755 
Chairperson Stamp:  But the transfer has happened, so why does it matter?  That’s the question.   756 
 757 

II. District Engineer – Calvin, Giordano & Associates 758 
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 759 
a) Engineer’s Report 760 

1. Strategic Operational Plan 761 
2. SFWMD Water Use Permit (Consumptive Use Permit) 762 
3. Water Quality Report  763 
4. Bonita Springs Floodwater Diversion Plan 764 
5. Preserve Tree Removal 765 
6. Hurricane Ian 766 
7. Assets Dedication, Ownership & Maintenance Analysis Report 767 

 768 
Mr. Ward:  Jimmy was awarded Engineer of the Year for the Civil Engineers Society for Broward 769 
County which is all of Ft. Lauderdale.  That’s a large group of engineers for which he has been 770 
recognized.  Congratulations on getting that award. 771 
 772 
The Board congratulated Mr. Messick.   773 
 774 
Mr. Messick:  Thank you.  I appreciate it.  The award was unexpected, and it was certainly nice to 775 
be acknowledged.  I put together an Engineer’s Report.  Regarding the Strategic Operational 776 
Plan, looking forward to the first quarter for the fiscal year 2022-2023, the vendors are on top of 777 
their individual tasks for the lakes and landscape irrigation, etc.  This first quarter of future work 778 
does include lake 12 and lake 20, lake 21, CIP lake bank restoration.  It will be scheduled once the 779 
lake water drops to a sufficient elevation, and we will put the contract out to bid in the next 780 
several months.  I anticipate construction starting in February of 2023.  In addition, in January 781 
we have scheduled to paint the front entrance bridge and also in two months we've been 782 
authorized to spray the water management systems.  For some reason we see lilies in the front 783 
lakes and the flow way, predominantly, so we are going to tackle those at first to try to take care 784 
of the items that need to be addressed first, and that’s lakes 1, 2, and 4 and the Flow Way Canal.  785 
That work will commence in December.   786 
 787 
The next item on my Agenda is to talk about South Florida Water Use Permit.  That’s been put on 788 
hold and Jim has asked me to put together an asset dedication, ownership, and maintenance 789 
analysis.  I will go through that later on.  Once we address those things, we will be able to get 790 
back into the water use permit transfer.   791 
 792 
Number three was the water quality sampling report; that was completed.  This report was 793 
completed in five sample locations: the Flow Way Canal, lakes 9, 7, 12, 18, and 19, for the same 794 
contaminants that were tested for in the last quarterly report.  The report showed that the 795 
results, attached in appendix D, do not show any water quality concerns at this time.  Actually, 796 
the next sampling event is coming up this month and we will get the report again in November 797 
and I will present it at the next board meeting.  There are no water quality concerns at this time.   798 
 799 
Number four is the Bonita Springs Floodwater Diversion Plan.  We did talk about it with our 800 
attorney and have identified what the last steps were.  As you mentioned, the attorney attended 801 
the Big Cypress Basin Board Meeting where we opposed the emergency permit.  We did have an 802 
emergency event; however, the flooding was not to a level where Bonita Springs enacted or 803 
submitted for the emergency plan to the District, so there is some silver lining in all of this.  It 804 
seems that there are major events that will require this that we will want to address this, but if a 805 
hurricane doesn’t do it, which has been one of the worst hurricanes on the west coast in recent 806 
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history, then that is kind of a good sign.  We will continue to oppose the discharge of floodwaters 807 
in an emergency operation plan from Bonita Springs.  I would like to mention, and I think it 808 
would be a good idea to email public comment from our District Manager, Attorney and 809 
Engineer combined to City Meetings at Bonita Springs.  It was something brought up prior to 810 
September.  There is nothing on their agenda that is going over the emergency plan, but it is 811 
something for public comment, so they are aware of our opposition.  I know Collier County is 812 
opposed to it.  We brought this up to South Florida’s Big Cypress Basin Board, but it would also 813 
be appropriate to also bring up our opposition to Bonita Springs.  If we send an email to them, 814 
they will read it at the public comments portion of the Board Meeting, and we can listen in 815 
virtually on what they say and take the next steps after that.   816 
 817 
Discussion ensued regarding who should send the email.  Chairperson Stamp indicated he would 818 
put one together from the Board.   819 
 820 
Mr. Messick:  Number five, preserve tree removal.  We were able to follow through and the work 821 
was completed in August to remove the trees that were thought to be dead and needed to be 822 
removed.  We got that in just in the nick of time prior to the hurricane.  Certainly, there could be 823 
more trees out there and it's worth taking another walk along the preserve path.  But we did 824 
complete the initial steps approved by South Florida in August.   825 
 826 
Next item is Hurricane Ian.  This has been one of the most powerful hurricanes to hit the U.S. in 827 
decades.  It has taken its toll on everyone, whether you are directly affected by it or have friends 828 
and family.  As you know, I grew up and started my profession on the west coast.  We vacationed 829 
in Sanibel and were there this last weekend helping to cleanup.  It's been crazy.  I think Naples 830 
and Flow Way came away pretty unscathed compared to Lee County and some of the barrier 831 
islands.  But having said that, we did feel like it was the right thing to do and the clean up the 832 
sediment debris and stormwater management system that was done last year really benefitted 833 
the stormwater management system for this storm.  The lakes in the system worked exactly how 834 
they were permitted, and Collier County also took actions prior to the storm and prematurely 835 
lowered the Cocohatchee Canal which allowed for a surplus of rainwater to start, staging at 836 
lower elevations, and affected our system in a positive manner.  It all worked out in the correct 837 
manner.  I did prepare a stormwater emergency drainage exhibit to review how the storm would 838 
stage depending on the storm event; that is in the appendices in the Report.  If you look at 839 
appendix C you will see the three phases.  He reviewed Appendix C which included maps and 840 
illustrations of where the water would be stored and discharged during which type of storm 841 
events.   842 
 843 
Last item was to review the Assets Dedication, Ownership & Maintenance Analysis Report.  It's 844 
attached after the Engineer’s Report.  The bulk of it was the 11 plats attached to it which were 845 
reviewed.  Those plats have public and private entities and ownerships that are dedicated 846 
various assets done during the development process.  What we really wanted to focus on was 847 
trying to correct the known discrepancies in asset ownership and dedications by providing a list 848 
of recommendations that both the HOA and the CDD would need to agree upon to implement a 849 
plan to correct these discrepancies.  As I mentioned, there are plats and permits to identify that.  850 
The executive summary has eleven key points, and you can read through them, and I can kind of 851 
go through them briefly, but we are talking about even basic preserve tracts in certain parcels 852 
which were never deeded over to the CDD.  The lake tracts in various plats were dedicated, but 853 
not to the CDD.  These need to be dedicated to the CDD for proper asset management.  There are 854 
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also water management tracts in Phase V, and the original subdivision tract W, that should be 855 
dedicated to the CDD, and then a public utility easement tract could be dedicated to the CDD.  856 
Those are listed.  I think primarily the reason these were missed was because the dedications 857 
assumed that the HOA would have the primary asset, but in reality, the CDD took the 858 
responsibility to maintain the drainage asset for the entirety.  He reviewed other tracts which 859 
needed to be dedicated to the CDD.   The last three items are the permits.  The water use permit 860 
needs to be transferred to the CDD, both water use permits, and the U.S. Army Corps of 861 
Engineers permit needs to be transferred to the CDD.  If there is anything, legal counsel can 862 
certainly review and confirm some of these items that are recommended in the Executive 863 
Summary, but certainly this gives us a start to begin the process.   864 
 865 
Mr. Bhatla left the meeting at approximately 2:55 p.m. 866 
 867 
Chairperson Stamp:  It is the recommendation or thoughts of the Engineer that all the preserves 868 
out to be transferred to the CDD.  It's not necessarily the opinion of the Board.  Just to have that 869 
on the record. 870 
 871 
Mr. Miller:  Generally speaking, there is a thing called Casualty Losses.  Generally speaking, 872 
casualty losses are not tax deductible.  If you incur a loss in your house and it's not compensated 873 
by insurance, then you cannot deduct that loss.  However, when the area is declared a federal 874 
disaster area, which I believe this has, then that casualty loss becomes tax deductible.  So, people 875 
who have incurred losses on Lanais or roofs, if they are not compensated by insurance, and you 876 
itemize your deductions, those losses can be tax deductible.  It might just be good for the 877 
community to know that.   878 
 879 
Mr. Kleck:  Is this something you can put together yourself as a homeowner or do you need an 880 
adjustor? 881 
 882 
Mr. Miller:  You just file your own tax return, and you keep the receipts and then you claim the 883 
deduction when you itemize.  Secondly, it came to mind when Jimmy mentioned painting the 884 
bridge, I would throw out for the Board, what color?   885 
 886 
Discussion ensued regarding bridge color.  The Board requested the bridge be painted a lighter, 887 
eggshell/white color.   888 

 889 
III. District Manager – JPWard & Associates, LLC 890 
 891 

a) Financial Statements for period ending July 31, 2022 (unaudited) 892 
b) Financial Statements for period ending August 31, 2022 (unaudited) 893 
c) Financial Statements for period ending September 30, 2022 (unaudited) 894 
d) Update on Discussions with HOA regarding ultimate ownership/maintenance responsibilities 895 

 896 
Mr. Ward:  The purpose of Jimmy’s report today was such that we would be able to sit down with 897 
Mr. Boguslawski and his team and try to unravel this mess we have here with where easements 898 
belong and final ownership of whatever the assets may be and get them transferred around so we 899 
can operate correctly.  So, we will be handling that over the next couple of months.   900 
 901 
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Chairperson Stamp:  That will include letting the HOA take over the flowers in the front, the holiday 902 
lights, stuff like that and trying to separate some of that stuff out.   903 

 904 
NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS   Audience Comments 905 
 906 
Audience Comments: Public comment period is for items NOT listed on the Agenda, comments are 907 
limited to three (3) minutes per person, assignment of speaking time is not permitted, however the 908 
Presiding Officer may extend or reduce the time for the public comment period consistent with 909 
Section 286.0114, Florida Statutes 910 
 911 
There were no public comments. 912 
 913 
 914 
TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS   Announcement of Next Meeting 915 
 916 
Announcement of Next Meeting – Regular Meeting on November 17, 2022 917 
 918 
Chairperson Stamp:  On November 17, we will swear in the newly elected and reelected Board Members.  919 
We will also have the election of the new officers.   920 
  921 
 922 
ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS   Adjournment/Recess 923 
 924 
The meeting was adjourned at approximately 3:07 p.m. 925 
 926 

On MOTION made by Mr. Tom Kleck, seconded by Mr. Ron Miller, and 927 
with all in favor, the Meeting was adjourned. 928 

 929 
 930 

 Flow Way Community Development District 931 
 932 
 933 
_____________________________   _______________________________ 934 
James P. Ward, Secretary   Zack Stamp, Chairperson 935 
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I. PURPOSE  
The purpose of this report is to provide the Board of Supervisors an update of recent engineering 
related activities.  We will continue to provide updated monthly reports on the status of ongoing 
activities. 
 

II. CURRENT ITEMS  
The following items are currently outstanding:  
 

1. Strategic Operational Plan 

 
 
2. Bonita Springs Floodwater Diversion Plan – No Update 
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1. Strategic Operational Plan  

Current Asset Vendors  
• Lake Maintenance 

o Eco-Logic Services (aquatic lake and wetland plant maintenance 
o GHD Services, Inc. (Water Quality Sampling) 

• Landscape Maintenance 
o Estate Landscaping and Lawn Management (perimeter planting)  
o Everglades Pine straw (mulching 22/23)  
o First Class Pools (main entry fountain)  

• Irrigation Pump Station  
o Metro Pumping Systems (preventative pump maintenance 
o MRI Underground Services (chemical treatment for irrigation)  

• Entrance Features  
o Fast Signs  
o Bentley Electric (electrical contractor) 

 
2023 1st Quarterly Future Work  

• The Capital Improvement Plan for FY2023 includes Lake 12 and Lake 20/21 for lake 
bank restoration and replanting of littorals.  The lake bank restoration will be scheduled 
once water levels drop sufficiently to allow for restoration by the contractor.  Rainwater 
Leaders / Rip-Rap unique conditions identified and these items to be addressed prior to 
Lake 12 bank restoration.  We anticipate this work to commence in February 2023. 

• Front Entrance Bridge ‘Black Arches’ Painting scheduled for January 2023. 
• The District has authorized the additional spraying in the water management system.  – 

This will address lilies for flow way canal and lakes 1, 2 and 4.  This work will 
commence in December 2022. 
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2. Bonita Springs Floodwater Diversion Plan – No Update 

 
On May 26th Flow Way CDD was made aware of the Bonita Springs Floodwater Diversion Plan 
that was previously discussed at the Collier County Board of County Commissioner’s meeting 
held on April 26, 2022.  In this meeting, District 2 Commissioner, Andy Solis, presented to the 
board of commissioners the City of Bonita Spring’s plan to divert floodwaters from the Bonita 
Springs Boulevard and adjacent residential neighborhoods through Logan Boulevard’s 
stormwater canal system and into Collier County’s Cocohatchee Canal via Flow Way CDD’s 
external preserves and canal.  Upon further investigation and discussions with the SFWMD’s 
Principal Engineer of Big Cypress Basin, Bradley Jackson, two plans have been prepared by the 
City of Bonita Springs.  The first plan utilizes existing emergency pumps, and a second plan is to 
construct permanent facilities that would pump flood waters under specific tailwater thresholds.   
 
Mr. Jackson has since confirmed that the application for the permanent facilities project option 
has been withdrawn and is thought to be no longer pursued by the City of Bonita Springs.  The 
emergency pumps option is still being considered by the City of Bonita Spring as the emergency 
floodwater operations plan (collaboratively prepared between SFWMD and City of Bonita 
springs) could be used to submit for an Emergency Permit following a disaster event, and so long 
as Lee County is declared in a ‘State of Emergency’. 
 
Bonita Springs Floodwater Diversion Operations Plan was received by Councilmember Bhatla 
and transmitted to CDD Manager Staff for review on 6/23/22.  Following conference call on 
6/29/22, legal council drafted letter and transmitted to Drew Bartlett at SFWMD documenting 
Flow Way CDD’s request for additional environmental studies/impacts analysis of the offsite 
pumping activities into the conservation easement.   
 
The District attended SFWMD – Bid Cypress Basin board meeting on 8/25/22 to further oppose 
the emergency permit during future disaster events in Lee County.  The Board took public 
comment and acknowledged receiving emails from many concerned Naples Esplanade owners.  
In addition to the CDD’s legal counsel and district engineer, Collier County, Audubon FL, the 
Conservancy of Southwest FL, and FL Wildlife Federation all collaboratively requested more 
environmental analysis be provided, with a focus on water quality, more communications, 
operating control and appropriate remedies for downstream impacts be completed on the 
aforementioned operations plan.  The Board’s comments also indicated that they are not ready to 
remove ‘draft’ from the report and is still an open item for discussion.  Next step include 
attending City of Bonita Springs City Council meeting (scheduled for Sept. 7th @ 5:30 pm) to 
further object to their Emergency Operations Plan. 
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PERMITTING  

We are continuing our ongoing work of identifying permits that have been obtained for the 
development of the District’s infrastructure.  The below list is not complete, and will be updated 
periodically: 

Permit Agency 
/ Project Name 

 
Permit Number 

Date 
Received 

Date 
Expires Permitee- 

Constructed by Current Status 
Collier County 
Latest Flow 
Way CDD 
County PUD 
Modification 

Ordinance 20-30          
10/13/21 

       
Current 

Flow Way CDD Operation Phase 

South Florida 
Water 
Management 
District 
(SFWMD) ERP 
Permit 
Modification  

11-02031-P 9/13/07 9/13/12 I. M. Collier 
Joint Venture 
(Mirasol) 

Operation Phase: Active 

SFWMD Water 
Use 

11-02032-W 5/13/20 5/15/25 Taylor 
Morrison 
Esplanade 
Naples, LLC 

Operation Phase: Active 

SFWMD ROW 
Occupation 
Permit  

11652 
(App. No: 12-

1113-2M)  

6/13/13 6/30/14 Taylor 
Morrison 
Esplanade 
Naples, LLC 

Closed 

Army Corps of 
Engineers 
(ACOE) 

SAJ-2000-01926 
(IP-HWB) 

12/7/12 11/5/17 IM Collier Joint 
Venture 

Operation Phase; Issued 
(06/08/2016) 

Esplanade at 
Naples Golf & 
Country Club 
(G&CC) -- 
Excavation 

PL20120001253 2/20/13 2/20/14 Waldrop 
Engineering, 
P.A. 

Closed / Final Excavation 
Acceptance 09/14/21 

Esplanade 
G&CC of 
Naples -- Plans 
& Plat 

PL20120001261 10/28/19 10/21/21 Waldrop 
Engineering, 
P.A. 

Under Construction / 
Extension granted until 

10/21/2023 

Esplanade 
G&CC of 
Naples, Phase 2 
-- Plans & Plat 

PL20120002897 10/28/19 12/09/2023 Waldrop 
Engineering, 
P.A. 

Hearing Process – Open for 
Uploads / Extension granted 

until 12/09/2023  

Esplanade 
G&CC of 
Naples, Parcels 
E & G2 -- Plans 
& Plat 

PL20140002187 12/16/19 10/21/2023 Waldrop 
Engineering, 
P.A. 

Closed 
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Permit Agency 
/ Project Name 

 
Permit Number 

Date 
Received 

Date 
Expires Permitee- 

Constructed by Current Status 
Esplanade 
G&CC of 
Naples, Blocks 
D, F & H -- 
Plans & Plat 

PL20150001102 9/9/20 9/8/22 Waldrop 
Engineering, 
P.A. 

Closed 

Esplanade 
G&CC of 
Naples - 
Benevenuto 
Court -- Plans 
& Plat 

PL20150002533 3/9/21 3/22/23 Waldrop 
Engineering, 
P.A. 

Closed 

Esplanade 
G&CC of 
Naples - DiLillo 
Parcel -- Plans 
& Plat 

PL20160000536 08/23/21 09/13/23 Waldrop 
Engineering, 
P.A. 

Closed 

Esplanade 
G&CC of 
Naples, Ph3, 
Blk K1, K2 & 
H3 -- Plans & 
Plat 

PL20160003679 5/21/20 5/9/22 Taylor 
Morrison 
Esplanade 
Naples LLC 

Closed 

Esplanade 
G&CC of 
Naples, Phase 
4-- Plans & Plat 

PL20170001594 7/14/20 6/27/22 Waldrop 
Engineering, 
P.A. 

Closed 

Esplanade 
G&CC of 
Naples, Phase 5 
(Parcels: I, J, 
K1, K2, K3, & 
K4) -- Plans & 
Plat 

PL20180002201 10/14/14 10/01/2018 Taylor 
Morrison 
Esplanade 
Naples LLC 

Under Construction / 
Application Withdrawn 

  

Esplanade 
G&CC of 
Naples - 
Hatcher Parcel -
- Plans & Plat 

PL20190001680 4/28/20 4/28/23 Taylor 
Morrison 
Esplanade 
Naples LLC 

Under Construction/ Site 
Inspection/ Approved 

Construction and 
Maintenance Agreement & 

Performance Bond 
Esplanade 
G&CC of Naples 
Ph 1 Amenity 
Center -- Utility 
Acceptance 

PL20140000736 11/28/17 11/28/18 Taylor 
Morrison 
Esplanade 
Naples LLC 

Final Acceptance Scheduled 
for 7/13/2021; Was 

submitted originally as a Site 
Improvement Plan (SIP) 

under PL20130002186.  The 
Final Utility Conveyance 
was approved on 7/13/21. 

Final acceptance letter is not 
required for SIPs. 

Esplanade 
G&CC of Naples 
Amenity Center 
Phase 2B -- 

PL20160000757 11/02/16 11/02/17 Taylor 
Morrison 
Esplanade 

Final Acceptance Scheduled 
for 7/13/2021. The Final 
Utility Acceptance for 
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Permit Agency 
/ Project Name 

 
Permit Number 

Date 
Received 

Date 
Expires Permitee- 

Constructed by Current Status 
Utility 
Acceptance 

Naples LLC PL20160000757 Esplanade 
Golf & Country Club 

Amenity Site was approved 
by the BOCC on 7/13/21 and 
the Cash Bond in the amount 
of $7,061.41 was refunded to 
Taylor Morrison Esplanade 

Naples, LLC. Final 
acceptance letter is not 

required for SIPs. 
Esplanade 
G&CC of Naples 
SDP #2 
Maintenance 
Facility -- Utility 
Acceptance 

PL20160000600 04/15/16 04/15/17 Waldrop 
Engineering, 
P.A. 

Final Acceptance Scheduled 
for 7/13/2021. The Final 
Utility Acceptance for 

PL20160000600 Esplanade 
Golf & Country Club SDP 2 

Golf Course Maintenance 
Facility was approved by the 

BOCC on 7/13/21 and the 
Cash Bond in the amount of 
$5,122.27 was refunded to 
Taylor Morrison Esplanade 

Naples, LLC. Final 
acceptance letter is not 

required for SIPs. 
Esplanade Golf 
and Country 
Club of Naples - 
Phase 5 (SDPA) 

PL20190002869 12/16/19 03/26/23 TAYLOR 
MORRISON 
ESPLANADE 
NAPLES LLC 

Site Inspection – Add 
Application Type 

Esplanade Golf 
and Country 
Club of Naples - 
Amenity 
Campus (SDPA 

PL20210000129 01/19/21 11/23/26 TAYLOR 
MORRISON 
ESPLANADE 
NAPLES LLC 

Site Inspection – Add 
Application Type 
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Permit Agency 
/ Project Name 

 
Permit Number 

Date 
Received 

Date 
Expires Permitee- 

Constructed by Current Status 
Esplanade Golf 
& Country Club 
of Naples - 
Culinary Center 
(SDPA) 

PL20170002663 07/20/17 07/04/21 TAYLOR 
MORRISON 
ESPLANADE 
NAPLES LLC 

Site Inspection – Add 
Application Type  

*Additional Collier County permits completed, available upon request.  
 

III. ENGINEER’S REPORT COMPLETE  
 

 

By: ________________________ 
By: James Messick, P.E. 
District Engineer 
 
 
State of Florida Registration No. 70870 
 



 

APPENDIX A 
 

LOCATION MAP 
 

 
 
 

 

Immokalee Road  

FLOW WAY 
CDD 

C
ol

lie
r B

lv
d.

 



 

 
APPENDIX B 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

 

All of ESPLANADE GOLF AND COUNTRY CLUB OF NAPLES PLAT, according to the plat 
thereof, as recorded in Plat Book 53, Pages 1 through 64, include all subsequent plat revisions 
and amendments in the Public Records of Collier County, Florida. 
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Flow Way Community Develoment District
Balance Sheet

for the Period Ending October 31, 2022

 

General Fund Series 2013
Series 2015 
(Phase 3)

Series 2015 
(Phase 4)

Series 2016 
(Phase 5)

Series 2017 
(Phase 6)

Series 2019 
(Phase 7 8 
Hatcher)

Series 2016 
(Phase 5)

Series 2017 
(Phase 6)

Series 2019 
(Phase 7 - 8)

General Long 
Term Debt

Assets  

Cash and Investments

General Fund - Invested Cash 444,320$           -$                   -$                    -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                 -$                  -$                      -$                      -$                     444,320$              

Debt Service Fund

Interest Account -                          203,463            84,000               76,313             119,589           81,488             -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            564,851                 

Sinking Account -                          130,000            75,000               60,000             110,000           70,000             -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            445,000                 

Reserve Account -                          544,845            247,976             162,397           176,428           119,659           256,422           -                    -                        -                        -                            1,507,725             

Revenue -                          121,364            119,390             36,781             35,995             17,421             394,418           -                    -                        -                        -                            725,369                 

Prepayment Account -                          -                          881                     272                   -                        -                        5                       -                    -                        -                        -                            1,158                     

General Redemption Account -                          -                          -                          2,471               -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            2,471                     

Construction -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        25,623         16,785             34,297             -                            76,705                   

Cost of Issuance -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            -                              

Retainage Account -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            -                              

Due from Other Funds

General Fund -                          6,521                 3,095                  2,616               4,233               2,874               6,233               -                    -                        -                        -                            25,572                   

Debt Service Fund(s) -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            -                              

Capital Projects Fund(s) -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                              

Market Valuation Adjustments -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                            -                              

Accrued Interest Receivable -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            -                              

Accounts Receivable 472,420             -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            472,420                 

Amount Available in Debt Service Funds -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        2,980,706           2,980,706             

Amount to be Provided by Debt Service Funds -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        26,674,294         26,674,294           
Investment in General Fixed Assets (net of 
depreciation) -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            -                              

Total Assets 916,740$           1,006,192$      530,342$           340,849$        446,245$        291,441$        657,078$        25,623$       16,785$           34,297$           29,655,000$       33,920,591$         

Account Groups

Totals      
(Memorandum 

Only)

Governmental Funds

Capital Projects FundsDebt Service Funds

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 1



Flow Way Community Develoment District
Balance Sheet

for the Period Ending October 31, 2022

 

General Fund Series 2013
Series 2015 
(Phase 3)

Series 2015 
(Phase 4)

Series 2016 
(Phase 5)

Series 2017 
(Phase 6)

Series 2019 
(Phase 7 8 
Hatcher)

Series 2016 
(Phase 5)

Series 2017 
(Phase 6)

Series 2019 
(Phase 7 - 8)

General Long 
Term Debt

Account Groups

Totals      
(Memorandum 

Only)

Governmental Funds

Capital Projects FundsDebt Service Funds

Liabilities

Accounts Payable & Payroll Liabilities 12,000$             -$                       -$                        -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                  -$                      -$                      -$                          12,000$                 

Due to Other Funds

     General Fund -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            -                              

     Debt Service Fund(s) 25,572               -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            25,572                   

     Capital Projects Fund(s) -                          -                              

Bonds Payable -                              

Current Portion -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        590,000               590,000                 

Long Term 29,065,000         29,065,000           

Unamortized Prem/Disc on Bds Pybl -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                              

Total Liabilities   37,572$             -$                       -$                        -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                  -$                      -$                      29,655,000$       29,692,572$         

Fund Equity and Other Credits

Investment in General Fixed Assets -                          -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            -                              

Fund Balance

Restricted

Beginning: October 1, 2021 (Unaudited) -                          997,116            526,139             337,797           442,254           291,441           653,990           25,623         16,785             34,296             -                            3,325,441             

Results from Current Operations -                          9,076                 4,203                  3,051               3,990               -                        3,088               0                   0                        1                        -                            23,410                   

Unassigned

Beginning: October 1, 2021 (Unaudited) 396,049             -                          -                          -                        -                        -                        -                        -                    -                        -                        -                            396,049                 

Results from Current Operations 483,119             -                          -                            483,119                 

Total Fund Equity and Other Credits 879,168$           1,006,192$      530,342$           340,849$        446,245$        291,441$        657,078$        25,623$       16,785$           34,297$           -$                         4,228,019$           

Total Liabilities, Fund Equity and Other Credits 916,740$           1,006,192$      530,342$           340,849$        446,245$        291,441$        657,078$        25,623$       16,785$           34,297$           29,655,000$       33,920,591$         

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 2



Flow Way Community Development District
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October  Year to Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget

Revenue and Other Sources
Carryforward -$               -                      (85,253)$         0%
Interest

Interest - General Checking -                  -                      -                       N/A
Special Assessment Revenue

Special Assessments - On-Roll 12,295       12,295           1,594,494 1%
Special Assessments - Off-Roll -                  -                      -                       N/A

Other Financing Sources-Truist Loan Proceeds 500,000     500,000         500,000          N/A
Contributions Private Sources -                  -                      -                       N/A
Intragovernmental Transfer In -                  -                      -                       N/A

Total Revenue and Other Sources: 512,295$  512,295         2,009,241$    25%

Expenditures and Other Uses
Legislative

Board of Supervisor's Fees -                  -                      12,000            0%
Executive

Professional Management 6,000         6,000             40,000            15%
Financial and Administrative

Audit Services -                  -                      5,700              0%
Accounting Services -                  -                      16,000            0%
Assessment Roll Services -                  -                      16,000            0%
Arbitrage Rebate Services -                  -                      3,000              0%

Other Contractual Services
Recording and Transcription -                  -                      -                       N/A
Legal Advertising -                  -                      3,500              0%
Trustee Services -                  -                      26,665            0%
Dissemination Agent Services -                  -                      5,500              0%
Property Appraiser Fees 2,750         2,750             10,000            28%
Bank Services 15              15                   300                  5%

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 3



Flow Way Community Development District
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October  Year to Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget
Travel and Per Diem -                  -                      -                       N/A
Communications & Freight Services

Postage, Freight & Messenger -                  -                      250                  0%
Rentals & Leases

Meeting Room Rental -                  -                      -                       N/A
Computer Services - Website Development -                  -                      2,000              0%
Insurance -                  -                      15,000            0%
Printing & Binding -                  -                      250                  0%
Office Supplies -                  -                      -                       N/A
Subscription & Memberships -                  -                      175                  0%
Legal Services

Legal - General Counsel -                  -                      20,000            0%
Boundary Expansion -                  -                      -                       N/A
Special Counsel - SFWMD -                  -                      -                       N/A
Special Counsel - Litigation -                  -                      175,000          0%
Truist Loan Fees 20,000       20,000           19,000            105%

Other General Government Services
Engineering Services - General Fund -                  -                      55,000            0%
 Miscellaneous Services -                  -                      -                       N/A
 Boardwalk & Golf Cart Review -                  -                      -                       N/A
 Asset Evaluation -                  -                      -                       N/A
 Stormwater Needs Analysis -                  -                      -                       N/A
 Strategic Operations Plan -                  -                      -                       N/A
 Capital Outlay -                  -                      -                       N/A

Community Wide Irrigation System
Professional Services
 Asset Management -                  -                      -                       N/A
 Consumptive Use Permit Monitor -                  -                      -                       N/A

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 4



Flow Way Community Development District
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October  Year to Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget
Utility Services
 Electric - Pump Station -                  -                      -                       N/A
 Electric - Recharge Pumps -                  -                      -                       N/A
Repairs and Maintenance
 Pump Station and Wells 410            410                -                       N/A
 Recharge Pumps -                  -                      -                       N/A
 Main Line Irrigation System -                  -                      -                       N/A
 Contingencies -                  -                      -                       N/A

Stormwater Management Services
Preserve Area Maintenance
   Environmental Engineering Consultant

Task 1 - Bid Documents -                  -                      -                       N/A
Task 2 - Monthly site visits -                  -                      13,350            0%
Task 3 - Reporting to Regulatory Agencies -                  -                      8,000              0%
Task 4 - Fish Sampling to US Fish & Wildlife -                  -                      10,350            0%
Task 5 - Attendance at Board Meeting -                  -                      1,000              0%
Clearing Downed Trees/Cleanup -                  -                 1,000              0%
Code Enforcement for Incursion into Preserve -                  -                 -                       N/A
Contingencies -                  -                 -                       N/A

Repairs and Maintenance
Wading Bird Foraging Areas -                  -                 1,523              0%
Internal Preserves -                  -                 6,598              0%
Western Preserve -                  -                 3,333              0%
Northern Preserve Area 1 -                  -                 3,333              0%
Northern Preserve Area 2 -                  -                 3,334              0%
Northern Preserve Areas 1&2 -                  -                 -                       N/A
Clearing Downed Trees/Cleanup -                  -                 5,000              0%
Code Enforcement for Incursion into Preserve -                  -                 -                       N/A

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 5



Flow Way Community Development District
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October  Year to Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget
Installation - No Trespassing Signs -                  -                 -                       N/A

Capital Outlay
Internal and External -                  -                 55,000            0%

Lake, Lake Bank and Littoral Shelf Maintenance
  Professional Services

Asset Management -                  -                 21,600            0%
  Repairs & Maintenance

Aquatic Weed Control -                  -                 104,000          0%
Littortal Shelf-Invasive Plant Control/Monitoring -                  -                 66,000            0%
Lake Bank Maintenance -                  -                 15,000            0%
Water Quality Testing -                  -                 14,500            0%
Littortal Shelf Planting -                  -                 10,000            0%
Aeration System -                  -                 -                       N/A
Control Structures, Catch Basins & Outfalls -                  -                 12,000            0%
Contingencies -                  -                 15,505            0%

Capital Outlay
Fountain Installations -                  -                 -                       N/A
Littortal Shelf Planting -                  -                 4,000              0%
Lake Bank Restorations -                  -                 183,128          0%
Water Control Structures -                  -                 31,000            0%

Contingencies -                  -                 -                       N/A
Community Wide Irrigation System
  Professional Services

Asset Management -                  -                 11,250            0%
Consumptive Use Permit Monitoring -                  -                 16,000            0%

  Utility Services
Electric - Pump Station -                  -                 32,000            0%
Electric - Recharge Pumps -                  -                 8,000              0%

Repairs and Maintenance

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 6



Flow Way Community Development District
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October  Year to Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget
Pump Station and Wells -                  -                 30,000            0%
Recharge Pumps -                  -                 8,500              0%
Main Line Irrigation System -                  -                 6,600              0%
Contingencies -                  -                 5,957              0%

Capital Outlay
New Meter and Backup Pump/Motor -                  -                 28,000            0%

Landscaping Services
  Professional Services

Asset Management -                  -                 9,250              0%
  Utility Services

Electric - Landscape Lighting -                  -                 19,600            0%
Potable Water - Fountains -                  -                 2,400              0%

Community Entrance (Landscaping)
Repairs and Maintenance

Landscaping Maintenance -                  -                 95,000            0%
Tree Trimming -                  -                 8,000              0%
Landscape Replacements -                  -                 10,000            0%
Mulch Installation -                  -                 12,500            0%
Annuals -                  -                 32,000            N/A
Annual Holiday Decorations -                  -                 18,000            N/A
Landscape Lighting -                  -                 3,600              N/A
Landscape Monuments -                  -                 7,200              N/A
Fountains -                  -                 18,500            N/A
Bridge & Roadway - Main Entrance -                  -                 13,500            0%
Miscellaneous Repairs -                  -                 3,000              N/A
Contingencies -                  -                 15,491            0%

Debt Service
Principal -                  -                 500,000          N/A
Interest -                  -                 12,200            N/A

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 7



Flow Way Community Development District
General Fund

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October  Year to Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget
Reserves and Overall Contingencies

District Asset Restoration -                  -                 -                       N/A
Contingencies -                  -                 68,800            N/A

Intragovernmental Transfer Out -                  -                 -                       N/A
Sub-Total: 29,176       29,176           2,009,241       1%

Total Expenditures and Other Uses: 29,176$    29,176$         2,009,241$    1%

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Fund Balance 483,119     483,119         -                       
Fund Balance - Beginning 396,049     396,049         -                       
Fund Balance - Ending 879,168$  879,168         -$                     

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 8



Flow Way Community Development District
Debt Service Fund - Series 2013

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October  Year to Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget

Revenue and Other Sources
Carryforward -$                    -                 -$                    N/A
Interest Income

Interest Account -                       -                 -                      #DIV/0!
Sinking Fund -                       -                 -                      N/A
Reserve Account 5,845              5,845            11,000           53%
Prepayment Account -                       -                 -                      N/A
Revenue Account 2                      2                    -                      N/A

Special Assessment Revenue
Special Assessments - On-Roll 4,159              4,159            539,344        1%
Special Assessments - Off-Roll -                       -                 -                      N/A

Intragovernmental Transfer In -                       -                 -                      N/A
Total Revenue and Other Sources: 10,006$         10,006          550,344$      N/A

Expenditures and Other Uses
Property Appraiser & Tax Collection Fees 930.45           930                -$                    N/A

Debt Service
Principal Debt Service - Mandatory

Series 2013 Bonds -                  -                 130,000$      0%
Principal Debt Service - Early Redemptions

Series 2013 Bonds -                       -                 -                      N/A
Interest Expense

Series 2013 Bonds -                       -                 410,525        0%
Operating Transfers Out (To Other Funds) -                       -                 -                      N/A

Total Expenditures and Other Uses: $930 $930 $540,525 N/A

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Fund Balance 9,076              9,076            9,819             
Fund Balance - Beginning 997,116         997,116        
Fund Balance - Ending 1,006,192$   1,006,192    9,819$           

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 9



Flow Way Community Development District
Debt Service Fund - Series 2015 (Phase 3)

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October
 Year to 

Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget
Revenue and Other Sources

Carryforward -$                -            -$                    N/A
Interest Income

Interest Account -                   -            -                      N/A
Sinking Fund -                   -            -                      N/A
Reserve Account 2,670          2,670       5,300             50%
Prepayment Account -                   -            -                      N/A
Revenue Account 1                  1               -                      N/A

Special Assessment Revenue
Special Assessments - On-Roll 1,974          1,974       255,873         1%
Special Assessments - Off-Roll -                   -            -                      N/A
Special Assessments - Prepayment -                   -            -                      N/A

Intragovernmental Transfers In -                   -            
Debt Proceeds -                   -            -                      N/A

Total Revenue and Other Sources: 4,645$        4,645       261,173$       N/A

Expenditures and Other Uses
Property Appraiser & Tax Collection Fees 442             442           -$                    N/A

Debt Service
Principal Debt Service - Mandatory

Series 2015 Bonds (Phase 3) -                   -            75,000$         0%
Principal Debt Service - Early Redemptions

Series 2015 Bonds (Phase 3) -                   -            -                      N/A
Interest Expense

Series 2015 Bonds (Phase 3) -                   -            166,406         0%
Operating Transfers Out (To Other Funds) -                   -            -                      N/A

Total Expenditures and Other Uses: $442 $442 $241,406 N/A

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Fund Balance 4,203          4,203       19,767           
Fund Balance - Beginning 526,139     526,139   -                      
Fund Balance - Ending 530,342$   530,342   19,767$         

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 10



Flow Way Community Development District
Debt Service Fund - Series 2015 (Phase 4)

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October
 Year to 

Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget
Revenue and Other Sources

Carryforward -$                -              -$                    N/A
Interest Income

Interest Account -                   -              -                       N/A
Sinking Fund -                   -              -                       N/A
Reserve Account 1,756          1,756          3,500              50%
Prepayment Account -                   -              -                       N/A
Revenue Account 1                  1                  8                      9%
General Redemption Account 0                  0                  -                       N/A

Special Assessment Revenue
Special Assessments - On-Roll 1,668          1,668          216,342         1%
Special Assessments - Off-Roll -                   -              -                       N/A
Special Assessments - Prepayments -                   -              -                       N/A

Operating Transfers In (To Other Funds) -                   -              -                       N/A
Debt Proceeds -                   -              -                       N/A

Total Revenue and Other Sources: 3,425$       3,425          219,850$       N/A

Expenditures and Other Uses
Property Appraiser & Tax Collection Fees 373.07        373             -$                    N/A

Debt Service
Principal Debt Service - Mandatory

Series 2015 Bonds (Phase 4) -                   -              60,000$         0%
Principal Debt Service - Early Redemptions

Series 2015 Bonds (Phase 4) -                   -              -                       N/A
Interest Expense

Series 2015 Bonds (Phase 4) -                   -              151,356         0%
Operating Transfers Out (To Other Funds) -                   -              -                       N/A

Total Expenditures and Other Uses: $373 $373 $211,356 N/A

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Fund Balance 3,051          3,051          8,494              
Fund Balance - Beginning 337,797     337,797     
Fund Balance - Ending 340,849$   340,849     8,494$           

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 11



Flow Way Community Development District
Debt Service Fund - Series 2016 (Phase 5)

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October
 Year to 

Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget
Revenue and Other Sources

Carryforward -$                -             -$                    N/A
Interest Income

Interest Account -                  -             -                      N/A
Sinking Fund -                  -             -                      N/A
Reserve Account 1,893         1,893         3,700             51%
Prepayment Account -                  -             -                      N/A
Revenue Account 1                 1                 12                   9%

Special Assessment Revenue
Special Assessments - On-Roll 2,700         2,700         350,060        1%
Special Assessments - Off-Roll -                  -             -                      N/A

Debt Proceeds -             
Operating Transfers In (To Other Funds) -                  -             -                      N/A

Total Revenue and Other Sources: 4,595$       4,595         353,772$      N/A

Expenditures and Other Uses
Property Appraiser & Tax Collection Fees 604.09       604             -$                    N/A

Debt Service
Principal Debt Service - Mandatory

Series 2016 Bonds (Phase 5) -                  -             110,000$      0%
Principal Debt Service - Early Redemptions

Series 2016 Bonds (Phase 5) -                  -             -                      N/A
Interest Expense

Series 2016 Bonds (Phase 5) -                  -             236,785        0%
Operating Transfers Out (To Other Funds) 0                 0                 -                      N/A

Total Expenditures and Other Uses: $604 $604 $346,785 N/A

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Fund Balance 3,990         3,990         6,987             
Fund Balance - Beginning 442,254     442,254     
Fund Balance - Ending 446,245$  446,245    6,987$           

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 12



Flow Way Community Development District
Debt Service Fund - Series 2017 (Phase 6)

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October
 Year to 

Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget
Revenue and Other Sources

Carryforward -$                -              -$                    N/A
Interest Income

Interest Account -                  -              -                      N/A
Sinking Fund -                  -              -                      N/A
Reserve Account 1,284         1,284         2,200             58%
Prepayment Account -                  -              -                      N/A
Revenue Account 1                 1                 8                     9%

Special Assessment Revenue
Special Assessments - On-Roll 1,834         1,834         237,599         1%
Special Assessments - Off-Roll -                  -              -                      N/A

Debt Proceeds -                  -              
Operating Transfers In (To Other Funds) -                  -              -                      N/A

Total Revenue and Other Sources: 3,118$       3,118         239,807$       N/A

Expenditures and Other Uses
Property Appraiser & Tax Collection Fees 410.19       410             -$                    N/A

Debt Service
Principal Debt Service - Mandatory

Series 2017 Bonds (Phase 6) -                  -              70,000$         0%
Principal Debt Service - Early Redemptions

Series 2017 Bonds (Phase 6) -                  -              -                      N/A
Interest Expense

Series 2017 Bonds (Phase 6) -                  -              161,750         0%
Debt Service-Other Costs -                  -              -                      N/A
Operating Transfers Out (To Other Funds) 0                 0                 -                      N/A

Total Expenditures and Other Uses: $410 $410 $231,750 N/A

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Fund Balance 2,708         2,708         8,057             
Fund Balance - Beginning 288,733     288,733     
Fund Balance - Ending 291,441$   291,441     8,057$           

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 13



Flow Way Community Development District
Debt Service Fund - Series 2019 (Phase 7, Phase 8 and Hatcher)

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October  Year to Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
% of 

Budget
Revenue and Other Sources

Carryforward - Capitalized Interest -$                    -                   -$                    N/A
Interest Income

Interest Account -                      -                   -                      N/A
Sinking Account -                      -                   -                      N/A
Reserve Account 1                     1                      15                   7%
Prepayment Account -                      -                   -                      N/A
Revenue Account 2                     2                      15                   11%

Special Assessment Revenue
Special Assessments - On-Roll 3,976             3,976               515,479         1%
Special Assessments - Off-Roll -                      -                   -                      N/A

Debt Proceeds -                      -                   
Operating Transfers In (To Other Funds) -                      -                   -                      N/A

Total Revenue and Other Sources: 3,979$           3,979               515,509$       N/A

Expenditures and Other Uses
Property Appraiser & Tax Collection Fees 889.49           889                  -$                    N/A

Debt Service
Principal Debt Service - Mandatory

Series 2019 Bonds (Phase 7,8,Hatcher) -                      -                   170,000$       0%
Principal Debt Service - Early Redemptions

Series 2019 Bonds (Phase 7,8,Hatcher) -                      -                   -                      N/A
Interest Expense

Series 2019 Bonds (Phase 7,8,Hatcher) -                      -                   339,743         0%
Debt Service-Other Costs -                      -                   -                      N/A
Operating Transfers Out (To Other Funds) 1                     1                      -                      N/A

Total Expenditures and Other Uses: $891 $891 $509,743 N/A

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Fund Balance 3,088             3,088               5,766             
Fund Balance - Beginning 653,990         653,990          
Fund Balance - Ending 657,078$       657,078          5,766$           

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 14



Flow Way Community Development District
Capital Project Fund - Series 2016 (Phase 5)

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October  Year to Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
Revenue and Other Sources

Carryforward -$                    -$                    -$                     
Interest Income

Construction Account 0                      0                     -                       
Cost of Issuance -                      -                 -                       

Debt Proceeds -                      -                       
Operating Transfers In (From Other Funds) 0                      0                     -                       

Total Revenue and Other Sources: 0$                   0$                   -$                     

Expenditures and Other Uses

Executive
Professional Management -                      -$                    -$                     

Other Contractual Services
Trustee Services -                      -$                    -$                     

Printing & Binding -                      -$                    -$                     
Legal Services

Legal - Series 2016 Bonds (Phase 5) -                      -$                    -                       
Other General Government Services

Stormwater Mgmt-Construction -                      -$                    -$                     
Capital Outlay

Construction in Progress -                      -$                    -                       
Cost of Issuance

Series 2016 Bonds (Phase 5) -                      -                 -$                     
Underwriter's Discount -                      -$                    -                       

Operating Transfers Out (To Other Funds) -$                    0$                   -                       
Total Expenditures and Other Uses: -$                    0$                   -$                     

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Fund Balance 0                      0$                   -                       
Fund Balance - Beginning 25,623            25,623           -                       
Fund Balance - Ending 25,623$         25,623$         -$                     

Unaudited
Prepared by:

JPWARD and Associates, LLC 15



Flow Way Community Development District
Capital Project Fund - Series 2017 (Phase 6)

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October  Year to Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
Revenue and Other Sources

Carryforward -$                     -                  -$                     
Interest Income

Construction Account 0                      0                     -                       
Cost of Issuance -                       -                  -                       

Debt Proceeds -                      -                       
Operating Transfers In (From Other Funds) 0                      0                     -                       

Total Revenue and Other Sources: 0$                    0$                   -$                     

Expenditures and Other Uses

Executive
Professional Management -                       -$                    -$                     

Other Contractual Services
Trustee Services -                       -$                    -$                     

Printing & Binding -                       -$                    -$                     
Legal Services

Legal - Series 2016 Bonds (Phase 5) -                       -$                    -                       
Capital Outlay

Water-Sewer Combination-Construction -                       -$                    -$                     
Stormwater Mgmt-Construction -                       -$                    -$                     
Off-Site Improvements-CR 951 Extension -                       -$                    -$                     
Construction in Progress -                       -$                    -                       
Cost of Issuance

Series 2017 Bonds (Phase 6) -                       -                  -$                     
Underwriter's Discount -                       -$                    -                       

Operating Transfers Out (To Other Funds) -$                     -$                    -                       
Total Expenditures and Other Uses: -$                     -$                    -$                     

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Fund Balance 0                      0$                   -                       
Fund Balance - Beginning 16,785            16,785           -                       
Fund Balance - Ending 16,785$          16,785$         -$                     

Unaudited
Prepared by:
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Flow Way Community Development District
Capital Project Fund - Series 2019 (Phase 7, Phase 8 and Hatcher)

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance
Through October 31, 2022

Description October  Year to Date 
Total Annual 

Budget
Revenue and Other Sources

Carryforward -$                    -                   -$                     
Interest Income

Construction Account 0                      0                      -                       
Cost of Issuance -                       -                   -                       
Retainage Account -                       -                   -                       

Debt Proceeds -                       -                       
Contributions from Private Sources -                       -                       
Operating Transfers In (From Other Funds) 1                      1                      -                       

Total Revenue and Other Sources: 1$                   1$                    -$                     

Expenditures and Other Uses

Executive
Professional Management -                       -$                     -$                     

Other Contractual Services
Trustee Services -                       -$                     -$                     

Printing & Binding -                       -$                     -$                     
Legal Services

Legal - Series 2019 Bonds (Ph 7, Ph 8 & Hatcher) -                       -$                     -                       
Capital Outlay

Water-Sewer Combination-Construction -                       -$                     -$                     
Stormwater Mgmt-Construction -                       -$                     -$                     
Off-Site Improvements-CR 951 Extension -                       -$                     -$                     
Construction in Progress -                       -$                     -                       
Cost of Issuance

Series 2016 Bonds (Phase 5) -                       -                   -$                     
Underwriter's Discount -                       -$                     -                       

Operating Transfers Out (To Other Funds) -$                    -$                     -                       
Total Expenditures and Other Uses: -$                    -$                     -$                     

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Fund Balance 1$                    1$                    -                       
Fund Balance - Beginning 34,296            34,296            -                       
Fund Balance - Ending 34,297$         34,297$          -$                     

Unaudited
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